## FILE COPY

## DO NOT REMOVE

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

DOCKET NO. 19-0369

J.F. ALLEN CORPORATION, a west Virginia Corporation,

Plaintiff/Petitioner,

V.)

Appeal from a final order of the Circuit Court of Kanawha County (14-C-1182)

THE SANITARY BOARD OF THE CITY OF CHARLESTON, WEST VIRGINIA a municipal utility, and BURGESS AND NIPLE, INC., an Ohio Corporation,

Defendants/Respondents,

### **Petitioner's Brief**

### Counsel for Petitioner, J.F. Allen Corporation

Charles M. Johnstone, II (WV Bar #5082) Johnson W. Gabhart, (WV Bar #5492) JOHNSTONE & GABHART, LLP P.O. Box 313

Charleston, West Virginia 25321

T: 304-343-7100 F: 304-343-7107

### ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE JURY'S VERDICT WAS INCONSISTENT AS TO THE DAMAGES AWARDED AND IN VACATING THE JURY'S DAMAGES AWARDS AND ORDERING A NEW TRIAL AS TO DAMAGES ON THAT BASIS.
- 2. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN VACATING THE JURY'S DAMAGES AWARDS AND ORDERING A NEW TRIAL AS TO DAMAGES WHERE THE DAMAGES AWARDS WHERE NOT EXCESSIVE AND WERE SUPPORTED BY EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD.
- 3. THE TRIAL ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE JURY'S DAMAGES AWARDS VIOLATED THE SINGLE-RECOVERY RULE AND BY VACATING THE JURY'S DAMAGES AWARDS AND ORDERING A NEW TRIAL AS TO DAMAGES.
- 4. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY FINDING THAT THE AMOUNT OF J.F. ALLEN'S CONTRACT CLAIM AGAINST THE SANITARY BOARD, \$1,250,392.43, WAS THE MAXIMUM POSSIBLE RECOVERY AVAILABLE.
- 5. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT REMITTITUR WAS UNAVAILABLE TO RESOLVE ANY CONFLICT BETWEEN THE EVIDENCE AND THE JURY'S AWARDS AND THAT REMITTITUR WOULD HAVE REQUIRED AN APPORTIONMENT BETWEEN THE DEFENDANTS.

#### STATEMENT OF CASE

This case involved a series of disputes that arose during the construction of a public works construction project involving the Respondent, The Sanitary Board of the City of Charleston as Owner, the Petitioner, J.F. Allen Corporation, as Prime Contractor, and Respondent, Burgess & Niple, Inc., as Project Engineer. J.F. Allen and The Sanitary Board entered into a contract titled "Kanawha 2-Mile Creek Sewer Improvements-Sewer Replacements Sugar Creek Drive Sub-Area, Contract 10-8". By virtue of its contract to provide engineering services to The Sanitary Board, Burgess & Niple was designated as Project Engineer.<sup>1</sup>

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Jt. Appendix p. 1412

The total, adjusted contract price, including agreed change orders, was \$5,555,598.00.<sup>2</sup> The work was initially to be completed during calendar year 2012 but due to a series of delay and extra work J.F. Allen did not leave the project until November of 2013.<sup>3</sup>

On June 30, 2014 J.F. Allen filed its Complaint in this action and subsequently amended its Complaint on November 13, 2015, alleging one claim against The Sanitary Board for breach of contract and one claim against Burgess & Niple for professional negligence. After a long, arduous and expensive litigation, including a prior appeal to the Supreme Court of Appeals, this case was tried to a jury over the course of eight days in January of 2018, almost four years after the filing of J.F. Allen's Complaint.<sup>4</sup>

At the trial of the action J.F. Allen submitted its "Request for Equitable Adjustment" as evidence for contract damages against The Sanitary Board in the amount of \$1,252,392.43.<sup>5</sup> In addition, J.F. Allen submitted evidence of additional losses not covered in its Request for Equitable Adjustment. J.F. Allen's president, Greg Hadjis, testified that J.F. Allen suffered considerable losses beyond those contract damages reflected in his request for equitable adjustment.<sup>6</sup> These losses include substantial periods of delay not recoverable under the terms of J.F. Allen's contract, the costs of accelerating J.F. Allen's work and extending work hours, the increased costs for home office support, management and attention, additional trips to the job site, additional surveying and additional costs of maintaining the company's safety program.

J.F. Allen also presented the testimony of construction and damages expert witness, Bryon Willoughby, whose undisputed testimony provided evidence that J.F. Allen suffered substantial additional losses that were not part of the request for equitable adjustment.<sup>7</sup> Further, Mr. Willoughby testified that J.F. Allen was \$3,000,000.00 over budget for the project.<sup>8</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Jt. Appendix p. 2656

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Jt. Appendix p. 1412

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Jt. Appendix p. 4085

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Jt. Appendix pp. 1545-1546, 1551, 1752-1753, 2286

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Jt. Appendix pp. 2093-2102, 2113, 2119-2120

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Jt. Appendix p. 2189

Prior to deliberations, the Trial Court instructed the jury not to award compensatory damages based on speculation or sympathy and that any assessment of compensatory damages must be based only upon the evidence presented at trial. Further, the Trial Court instructed the jury that if it found that Petitioner was entitled to recover damages, it may only award damages that will provide a single recovery, because double recovery of damages is not permitted.<sup>9</sup>

After trial the jury initially returned a verdict finding in favor of J.F. Allen and against the Sanitary Board for breach of contract in the amount of \$1,300,000.20. The jury also found Burgess & Niple ninety percent negligent and the Petitioner ten percent negligent. However, the space for assessment of damages against Burgess & Niple was left blank. The Trial Court returned the jury for further deliberation. The jury subsequently returned a verdict awarding damages in favor of the Petitioner and against Burgess & Niple in the amount of \$3,000,000.20. <sup>10</sup>

The trial judge subsequently directed entry of judgment upon the verdicts and judgment was entered March 1, 2018.<sup>11</sup> Respondents each filed post-trial motions renewing motions for judgment as a matter of law or for a new trial. The Trial Court found that liability against the defendants was established but that the verdict on damages was inconsistent and that the total award violated the single-recovery rule. On these grounds the Trial Court denied Respondents' Motions as to liability but granted their request for new trial as to damages only.<sup>12</sup>

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS**

## A. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE JURY'S VERDICT ON DAMAGES WAS INCONSISTENT.

Justice Cleckley defined "inconsistency" in a jury verdict as where there is no rational, non-speculative way to reconcile two essential jury findings. <u>See, Cleckley Litigation Handbook</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Jt. Appendix p. 1412

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Jt. Appendix p. 1124

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Jt. Appendix p. 1129

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Jt. Appendix p. 1412

on West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure, 1173 (5<sup>th</sup> Ed. 2017). An example of this would be where the jury returns a verdict in favor of both the Plaintiff and Defendant, or where the jury finds no liability on the part of the Defendant but still awards damages to the Plaintiff. In such cases, an inconsistency should be resolved or a new trial awarded, prior to the entry of judgment. In this case there is no inconsistency in the jury's findings and judgment was entered upon the jury's verdicts. There is no indication of any impropriety in the verdicts rendered by the jury in this case and it would be necessary to engage in speculation to reach the conclusion that the jury did not intend two separate verdicts and awards.

J.F. Allen's claims against the two Defendants in this case are based on separate causes of action and the remedy for each is not dependent on the other. J.F. Allen's remedy for Burgess & Niple's negligence is not limited to or dependent on the damages recoverable under J.F. Allen's contract with The Sanitary Board. The fact that the jury returned awards against both Defendants in this case is neither inappropriate nor unexpected. The jury verdict form submitted to the jury contained two separate spaces for the express purpose of allowing the jury to make the award as to each Defendant that it found to be appropriate. As such, the Trial Court erred by finding that the Jury's verdicts in this case were inconsistent, vacating the jury's damages awards, and awarding a new trial as to damages.

## B. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY VACATING THE JURY'S DAMAGES AWARDS AND GRANTING DEFENDANTS A NEW TRIAL AS TO DAMAGES WHERE THE AWARDS WERE NOT EXCESSIVE AND WERE SUPPORTED BY EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD.

The jury in this case returned verdicts against both Defendants for different amounts and upon different claims. The jury's verdicts, returned on the verdict form reviewed and agreed to by counsel and the Trial Court prior to deliberations, awarded, in the space provided for damages to be awarded against The Sanitary Board, an amount approximating the amount claimed by J.F.

Allen as its contract damages. In response to a separate interrogatory, the jury found Burgess & Niple to have breached its common law duty owed to J.F. Allen to perform its work according to the appropriate standard of care and made an additional, separate award of damages against Burgess & Niple in the separate space provided for that purpose. Since there was no inconsistency in the verdicts returned, the Trial Court should have limited its review to determining whether the verdicts were supported by the evidence and whether they represented an excessive verdict.

In determining if there is sufficient evidence to support a verdict, the Trial Court should: (1) Consider the evidence in the light most favorable to the prevailing party; (2) assume that all conflicts in the evidence were resolved in favor of the prevailing party; (3) assume as proved all facts which the prevailing party's evidence tends to prove; and (4) give the prevailing party the benefit of all reasonable inferences which may be drawn from the evidence presented. *Bowyer v. Hi-Lad, Inc.*, 609 S.E.2d 895, 899 W.Va. (2004); *Rice v. Ryder*, 184 W.Va. 255, 400 S.E.2d 263 (1990); *England v. Shufflebarger*, 152 W.Va. 661, 166 S.E.2d 126 (1969). When a case involving conflicting testimony and circumstances has been fairly tried under proper instructions the verdict will not be set aside unless plainly contrary to the evidence. *Neely v. Belk*, 222 W.Va. 560, 661 S.E.2d 189 (2008).

Further, "[c]ourts must not set aside jury verdicts as excessive unless they are monstrous, enormous, at first blush beyond all measure, unreasonable, outrageous, and manifestly they show jury passion, particularity, prejudice, or corruption" Syl. pt. 1, *Addair v. Majestic Petroleum Company*, 160 W.Va. 105, 232 S.E.2d 821 (1977); Syl. pt. 5, *Roberts v. Stevens, Clinic Hospital, Inc.*, 176 W.Va. 492, 345 S.E.2d 791 (1986); Syl. pt. 12, *Foster v. Sakhia*, 210 W.Va. 716, 559 S.E.2d 53 (2001). Where a verdict is large but not so disproportionate to the injuries suffered as to shock the conscious or lead to the belief that the jury was influenced by improper motives, it

would be an invasion of the province of the jury and, therefore, an abuse of power on the part of the Court, to set it aside. 5C Michies, Damages Session 51, n. 693. A verdict rendered is entitled to considerable deference and should not be disturbed so long as the award is supported by some competent, credible evidence going to all essential elements of the award. Syl. pt. 4, Reed v. Wimmer, 193 W.Va. 199, 465 S.E.2d 199 (1995).

In this case, sufficient evidence was presented by the Plaintiff to support separate awards of damages against the two defendants. J.F. Allen presented a claim for contract damages against the Respondent, Sanitary Board in the amount of approximately \$1,250,000.00 but also presented evidence of other substantial damages. Further, in an action based in tort, the jury may award damages for aggravation, annoyance and inconvenience for which there is no definite itemization and no rule or measure upon which they can be based. In such cases, the fixing of damages is left to the discretion of the jury and a strong presumption of correctness is assigned to a jury verdict assessing damages. *Kessel v. Leavitt*, 2005 W.Va. 95, 511 S.E.2d 720, 810 (1998). Therefore, the Trial Court in this matter erred by substituting its own judgment for that of the jury, vacating the jury's award of damages, and awarding a new trial as to damages.

## C. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY FINDING THAT THE JURY'S DAMAGES AWARDS IN THIS CASE VIOLATED THE SINGLE-RECOVERY RULE.

As noted above, J.F. Allen's claims against The Sanitary Board and Burgess & Niple are separate causes of action based on different theories of liability. J.F. Allen's claim against The Sanitary Board consists of damages recoverable under the contract between them. The jury's verdict against The Sanitary Board represents a close approximation of J.F. Allen's damages claimed under its contract. The verdict against Burgess & Niple is based on a finding of negligence, the damages for which are indeterminate in nature and are not subject to exact calculation. The award of damages in such cases is left to the sound discretion of the jury and

should not be disturbed by the Court. The Jury in this case returned verdicts in favor of J.F. Allen against both Defendants for different amounts and upon different claims. The jury awarded, in the space provided for damages to be awarded against The Sanitary Board, in an amount approximating the amount claimed by J.F. Allen as its contract damages. In response to a separate Interrogatory, the jury found Burgess & Niple to have breached its common law duty owed to J.F. Allen to perform its work according to the appropriate standard of care and made an additional, separate award of damages against Burgess & Niple in the separate space provided for that purpose. At trial J.F. Allen presented evidence that it had suffered losses that far exceeded the contract damages sought. Further, in cases based in tort, the jury may award damages for aggravation, annoyance and inconvenience for which there is no definite itemization and no rule or measure upon they can be based. In such cases the fixing of damages is left to the discretion of the jury.

The fact that the jury awarded damages in favor of J.F. Allen against both The Sanitary Board and Burgess & Niple in this action is not evidence of a double recovery. Any such conclusion can be based only on speculation. J.F. Allen's claims against the two Defendants were based on separate and independent causes of action and differing theories of liability. It was anticipated by all parties that the jury might make awards in favor of J.F. Allen against both Defendants and the jury was properly instructed as to the impropriety of a double recovery. For these reasons, the Trial Court erred in concluding that the jury's damages awards in this case violated the single recovery rule, by vacating the jury's damages awards, and by awarding a new trial as to damages.

D. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY MAKING A FACTUAL FINDING THAT THE MAXIMUM POSSIBLE RECOVERY BY J.F. ALLEN WAS THE AMOUNT OF ITS CONTRACT CLAIM AGAINST THE SANITARY BOARD IN THE AMOUNT OF \$1,250,392.43.

It is true that J.F. Allen submitted evidence that it suffered damages recoverable under its Contract with The Sanitary Board in the referenced amount. But there is no basis for the Court's conclusion that J.F. Allen's tort damages should be capped at the amount claimed as contract damages. J.F. Allen presented substantial evidence at trial that it suffered losses on the project that far exceeded that amount. Further, as noted above, J.F. Allen's claim against Burgess & Niple was in the nature of a tort claim, which may include recovery of damages for aggravation, annoyance and inconvenience for which there is no definite itemization and no rule or measure upon they can be based. These claims, and the recovery for each, are not given the same treatment under the law because of the differences in the nature of the duties imposed by the common law versus those undertaken by contract. A person who commits a tort bears a risk of all proximate consequences of his wrong but one who breaks a contract bears only the risks he could have foreseen when he undertook the duty. 5C Michies, Damages 11, n. 284, citing Hurxthal v. St. Lawrence Manufacturing Co., 53 W.Va. 87, 44 S.E. 520 (1903); Hall v. Philadelphia Co., 74 W.Va. 172, 81 S.E. 727 (1914).

Therefore, the Trial Court erred by finding that the maximum possible recovery by J.F. Allen against both Defendants is capped at the amount of its claim for contract damages, \$1,250,392.43, by vacating the jury's damages awards, and by awarding a new trial as to damages.

E. THE COURT ERRED BY FINDING THAT REMITTITUR WAS UNAVAILABLE TO RESOLVE ANY CONFLICT BETWEEN THE EVIDENCE AND THE JURY'S AWARDS AND THAT REMITTITUR WOULD HAVE REQUIRED APPORTIONMENT BETWEEN THE DEFENDANTS.

As noted elsewhere, J.F. Allen's damages should not be capped at the amount of its contract damages and, therefore, it is not necessary to apportion the separate awards rendered by the jury

in this case between the two Defendants. If the Trial Court had determined that the award against The Sanitary Board was excessive because it exceeds the amount of J.F. Allen's claim for contract damages by a few thousand dollars, this would be a matter that could easily be addressed by remittitur. Further, under West Virginia law, awards for damages of an indeterminate nature may likewise be the subject of remittitur. "Even where there are no data by which the amount of excess in a jury's verdict is definitely ascertainable, entry of remittitur is permissible." Syl. pt. 6, *Roberts v. Stevens, Clinic Hospital, Inc.*, 176 W.Va. 492, 345 S.E.2d 791 (1986). Therefore, the Trial Court erred by concluding that an award of damages against the Defendants in this case should necessarily be apportioned between the two Defendants and that remittitur was not available to resolve any perceived conflict with the evidence presented, and by vacating the jury's damages awards awarding a new trial as to damages.

### STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

The Petitioner believes that oral argument is necessary under the criteria of Rule 18 of the Rules of Appellate Procedure and that the Court would benefit from oral argument in this case. The Petitioner asserts that the case is suitable for a Rule 19 argument as a case involving assignments of error in the application of settled law. The Petitioner further asserts that, as the Order appealed from involved error in the application of well settled, existing law, the matter is appropriate for a memorandum decision.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. THE JURY'S VERDICT WAS NOT "INCONSISTENT" AND THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SO FINDING AND IN GRANTING DEFENDANTS A NEW TRIAL AS TO DAMAGES ON THAT BASIS.

In her Order granting, in part, Defendants' Motions for new trial by granting a new trial as to damages only, the Trial Court made the following finding:

47. Here, the Court finds that liability against Defendants was established, but the verdict on damages is inconsistent and cannot

be reconciled with the instructions by the Court with what the law requires. 13

Inconsistency in a jury's answers to special interrogatories submitted on a jury verdict form is a matter to which Rule 49 of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure applies. That Rule addresses such inconsistencies by allowing the court to return the jury for further consideration or, when necessary, order a new trial before entering Judgment. Rule 49(b) provides as follows:

General Verdict Accompanied by Answer to Interrogatories. The court may submit to the jury, together with appropriate forms for a general verdict, written interrogatories upon one or more issues of fact the decision of which is necessary to a verdict. The court shall give such explanation or instruction as may be necessary to enable the jury both to make answers to the interrogatories and to render a general verdict, and the court shall direct the jury both to make written answers and to render a general verdict. When the general verdict and the answers are harmonious, the court shall direct the entry of the appropriate judgment upon the verdict and answers. When the answers are consistent with each other but one or more is inconsistent with the general verdict, the court may direct the entry of judgment in accordance with the answers, notwithstanding the general verdict or may return the jury for further consideration of its answers and verdict or may order a new trial. When the answers are inconsistent with each other and one or more is likewise inconsistent with the general verdict, the court shall not direct the entry of judgment but may return the jury for further consideration of its answers and verdict or may order a new trial. Rule 49(b) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure.

Thus, when a jury returns a verdict with special interrogatories, Rule 49 contemplates several possible responses. Where the answers and verdict are inconsistent the trial court "shall not direct entry of judgment" but may either send the jury back for further consideration or order a new trial. Where there is no inconsistency in the answers or verdict the court "shall direct the entry of the appropriate judgment upon the verdict and answers." *Id.* 

In this case, when the verdict form was initially received it did, in fact, contain an inconsistency. The jury found the defendant Burgess & Niple to have been guilty of negligence but left blank the space for assessment of damages. Recognizing this inconsistency, and in accord with Rule 49, the Trial Court returned the jury for further consideration. The jury subsequently

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Jt. Appendix p. 1412

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