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

and J.F. Allen 10% negligent, noting that the jury "got that they [were] supposed to give one recovery but may not have apportioned it among the defendants" and determined that what the Court needed to do was to "flesh out if it [was] their intent to assess the entire, [1.3] million dollars, to the Sanitary Board, but by virtue of the fact they have found negligence in the amount of [90%] as to [B&N], if they had intended to apportion and percentage of that to them." (JA 3323-36 (emphasis added).) Petitioner's counsel agreed with the Court's concern: "Yes, your Honor. Did they intend for that to be zero damages or was it their intention that the [1.3] million be split between the defendants." (JA 3323-36 (emphasis added).)

Notably, Petitioner does nothing on appeal to address its own comments to the Circuit Court and the jury during the trial itself, which make clear Petitioner sought recovery for a single injury under two legal theories. Moreover, Petitioner presents no evidence from the trial transcript or record to refute these comments or the fact that it sought recovery for a single injury against both Respondents for a total amount of \$1,252,392.43. Furthermore, Petitioner does not sufficiently address why the Court on appeal should set aside the Circuit Court's findings of fact on this issue, as this Court must review the Circuit Court's findings of fact under a clearly erroneous standard. (JA 1388-1406, ¶13.) See, e.g., Cantrell v. Cantrell, 242 W.Va. 116, 829 S.E.2d 274 (2019); Robertson v. B.A. Mullican Lumber & Mfg, Co., L.P., 208 W.Va. 1, 537 S.E.2d 317 (2000).

Rather than addressing the trial record directly, Petitioner instead attempts to utilize the layout of the parties' jury verdict form to theorize that the jury intended to make two separate awards in the "two separate spaces for the express purpose of allowing the jury to make the award as to each defendant that it found appropriate." (Pet's Brief, at 12.) It is not in dispute that the jury verdict form was organized into separate sections with interrogatories to understand the jury's

findings and conclusions. However, the fact that the jury had "two separate spaces" on the jury verdict form to fill out is immaterial and does not alter Petitioner's presentation of its case or its comments to the Circuit Court and jury at trial. As reflected in the trial record, Petitioner's counsel specifically instructed the jury to take that jury verdict form—broken down into separate sections against the two Respondents—and "decide how much you want to put [of the same damages asserted against both Respondents] against the sanitary board and what you want to put against Burgess and Niple." (JA 3297-98 (emphasis added).) Petitioner's appellate arguments to the contrary are unavailing.

Notably, the revisionist argument Petitioner raises on appeal has already been considered and rejected by the trial court. As reflected in the record, the Circuit Court did not hesitate to reject Petitioner's argument during the post-trial phase of this case, when Petitioner argued that it did not seek a single recovery under two legal theories:

THE COURT: The instructions that went to the jury were about one single recovery with respect to dual theories.

MR. JOHNSTONE: Well, no. I mean, I don't agree with that.

THE COURT: There are two causes of action which jointly result in damages. And that's what happened. Right?

THE COURT: . . . When you submitted the REA, let's just be honest. When you submitted the REA, you believed when you were submitting that as your damages-

MR. JOHNSTONE: All the contract damages we - -

THE COURT: All the damages you could.

MR. JOHNSTONE: Well, contract damages. I mean.

THE COURT: That's not my recollection of the way it was presented.

MR. JOHNSTONE: Well, I mean, they can cite to you what - - no one ever said, even in the closing when I wrote the number down, what I said --

THE COURT: You wrote the number down?

MR. JOHNSTONE: Yeah. And I said, "We expect these damages. You figure out who pays what all now."

THE COURT: Right. You - - figure out who pays what. This is all you can give - - MR. JOHNSTONE: No.

THE COURT: - - and you got to divvy it up between these two - -

MR. JOHNSTONE: I didn't say that.4

. . .

THE COURT: That certainly was my - -

. .

THE COURT: Under the law, that's one single recovery in different causes of action and alleged wrongs contributing to that recovery.

(JA 5155-60.)

In essence, Petitioner's claims against Respondents arose from the construction contract it entered into with CSB: (1) J.F. Allen had a contract with CSB; (2) B&N was designated as Engineer, (3) J.F. Allen did not have a contract with B&N, and (4) B&N would communicate directly with and make recommendations to CSB as the impartial and unbiased "referee" during the Project (5) before CSB could take action or make payments to J.F. Allen.<sup>5</sup>

Clearly, the Circuit Court found no merit in Petitioner's post-trial argument, and this Court should also reject it on appeal. Almost two years have passed since the trial in this matter.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Compare JA 3297-98: While explaining the jury verdict form during closing argument at trial, Petitioner's counsel informed the jury and the Circuit Court that Petitioner sought a single recovery of \$1,252,392.43 against both Respondents:

MR. JOHNSTONE: If you answer questions 1 and 2 yes, please assess damages...The damages are the same that we assert against both of these entities. Okay. So of this amount, you've got to decide how much you want to put against the sanitary board and what you want to put against Burgess and Niple.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See also JA 5160-61 ("THE COURT: But the negligence claims against [B&N] contribute to and are the cause of the alleged breach, right? MR. JOHNSTONE: Well, yeah . . . MR. JOHNSTONE: No, it's not the cause of the breach. The breach was by CSB. But as referee - - . . . [B&N] could've said "Please pay," and they didn't. THE COURT: Right. So it contributes to the fact you didn't get the \$1.2 million.").

However, it is still clear that Petitioner's case at trial consisted of two legal theories, and a maximum recovery of \$1,252,392.43 to "be split between the defendants." (JA 3323-36.) For these reasons, the Court should reject Petitioner's faulty attempt to rewrite history. Moreover, the Circuit Court's findings on the damages portion of the verdict are clear and should not be reversed or remanded on Petitioner's asserted grounds.

2. The Circuit Court Erred in Admitting into Evidence the Expert Report Prepared by J.F. Allen's Expert, Bryon Willoughby, Which Report Was, in Fact, Considered by the Jury Resulting in Substantial Error.

On separate and independent grounds, the Court should reject Petitioner's attempt to retroactively change the nature of its case in Assignments of Error I-V through witnesses who lightly mentioned in testimony that J.F. Allen suffered losses on the Project up and above the \$1.25 million requested by Petitioner at trial. In support of its argument, Petitioner states that "the most compelling evidence to support the jury's verdict was the testimony of Bryon Willoughby," who testified that J.F. Allen spent three million dollars more on this Project than it had budgeted. (Pet's Brief, at 16.) Petitioner thus hangs its entire appeal on one sentence in an eight-day trial, and on an expert report (the REA) that should never have been admitted by the Circuit Court to the jury in the first place. Despite Petitioner's contentions, the \$3 million was not included in Petitioner's single \$1.25 million "claim" against both Respondents under two legal theories at trial. The Court should reject Petitioner's appeal based on Petitioner's revisionist theory and the Circuit Court's clear error.

During the trial, Petitioner asserted that Mr. Willoughby's testimony and the "Request for Equitable Adjustment" (created by Mr. Willoughby) was Petitioner's "claim." On appeal, however, Petitioner is attempting to use Mr. Willoughby's testimony and his REA to the opposite effect. Now, Petitioner asserts that the REA was not just J.F. Allen's "claim."

The fact that Petitioner attempts to now utilize Mr. Willoughby's testimony and his expert report to change history on appeal further demonstrates why the report should not have been admitted to the jury in the first place, and why the Court should reject Petitioner's argument regarding its new "claim" on appeal. Overruling the objections of both B&N and CSB, the Circuit Court committed reversible error by admitting the "Request for Equitable Adjustment" ("REA") document authored by J.F. Allen's expert, Byron Willoughby, into evidence as Exhibit 3. (JA 2087.) Specifically, Exhibit 3 was J.F. Allen's attempt to establish its damages in this case via the REA submitted approximately six months <u>after</u> J.F. Allen's request for Final Payment and B&N's recommendation for Final Payment had been made (i.e. when the contract was already over). The REA should not have ever been submitted to the jury as substantive evidence for consideration during deliberations, and Petitioner's use of Mr. Willoughby's testimony in support of its arguments on appeal makes clear that the Circuit Court should not have permitted the expert report to go back to the jury during deliberations and that such action was prejudicial to the Respondents at trial.

On days one and two of the trial, CSB objected to the admission of the REA into evidence as an expert report and as a hearsay document. (JA 1574; JA 1618; JA 1622.) While the lower Court was considering B&N and CSB's objections, J.F. Allen represented that the document constituted its claim and should be admitted. (JA 1571-79; JA 1622.) J.F. Allen represented that, at the time it was prepared, the REA was not prepared by an "expert," but by a "consultant," and that it was not prepared in anticipation of litigation. (JA 1573.) Supposedly, Mr. Willoughby and J.F. Allen worked together to create the document. (JA 1572-73.)

Importantly, during day two of the trial, the Circuit Court agreed with Defendants that Exhibit 3 was "Mr. Willoughby's document." (JA 1615.) The Circuit Court also noted that J.F.

Allen's counsel did not refute that Exhibit 3 was a hearsay document. (JA 1622-23.) With these remarks, however, the Circuit Court decided to delay ruling on the admissibility of Exhibit 3 and take up the matter at a later time. (JA 1624.)

Through testimony in the case by J.F. Allen's management<sup>6</sup> and by Mr. Willoughby himself, it was revealed that the document was prepared solely by Mr. Willoughby in advance of litigation and at the express direction of J.F. Allen's attorney. (JA 2084-86; JA 2236; JA 2239-40; JA 1447 ("[E]xhibit 3 was prepared by [J.F. Allen's] expert").)<sup>7</sup>

During Mr. Willoughby's testimony, J.F. Allen's counsel moved for Exhibit 3's admission into evidence and CSB objected again based on its previous objections. The Circuit Court, however, overruled the objections and admitted the REA without explanation despite the testimony and evidence in the record in support of non-admissibility. (JA 2087.)

J.F. Allen's expert report should not have been submitted to the jury as substantive evidence. The admission of this document was highly prejudicial to the Respondents below. By admitting the expert report, the Circuit Court improperly permitted the jury to take this report of J.F. Allen's expert into the jury room for deliberations. (JA 1618.) *See* W.Va. R. Evid. 103(a), (d) ("To the extent practicable, the court must conduct a jury trial so that inadmissible evidence is not suggested to the jury by any means.").

Additionally, the document is itself hearsay and contained within it are multiple hearsay statements from J.F. Allen—thus constituting double hearsay. (JA 1619; JA 1622.) *See* W.Va. R. Evid. 802; *see also State v. Lambert*, 236 W.Va. 80, 96, 777 S.E.2d 649, 665 (2015) ("[A] party cannot call an expert simply as a conduit for introducing hearsay under the guise that the testifying

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> See JA 1558 ("I actually had to hire a third-party expert to help me wade through [capturing the true costs].").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> See also JA 1573-74 ("You know, the expectation at the time [of the REA's preparation] was this would be litigated because of request to correct the adjustment.").

expert used the hearsay as the basis for his testimony") (citations omitted). As the REA contained opinions and estimations by a third-party that were offered for their truth, the REA was inadmissible hearsay. For that independent reason, the document should not have been admitted.

Importantly, the Circuit Court's error in this regard was not harmless. It is clear that the jury consulted the document because the jury specifically asked for a portion of it during deliberations. During deliberations, the jury did not understand how to calculate breach of contract damages against CSB, and it sent multiple notes to the Court for assistance. Counsel for J.F. Allen had previously used a demonstrative exhibit poster board<sup>8</sup> listing the cost information provided by Mr. Willoughby's REA, and the jury sought clarity on how to find that information for their breach of contract damages calculation. (JA 3319-20.)

Not only did the jury actually utilize Exhibit 3, but the decision to admit the REA into evidence clearly affected the outcome of the trial. For instance, the poster board utilized by J.F. Allen for demonstrative purposes during the trial listed the amount of total damages J.F. Allen sought against both CSB and B&N—albeit under two different theories of liability—for a total amount of \$1,252,392.43. (JA 3297-98.) However, the REA lists \$1,309,943, and the jury awarded \$1,300,000.20 against CSB alone, exceeding the total amount of damages sought against the two defendants.<sup>9</sup>

	Cumulative Loss of Productivity  Temporary Paving Issue  Temporary Paving Issue Interest  Restoration Costs  Extended General Conditions Costs  Additional Asphali Type A-3 Repair Costs	\$90,316 \$4,790 \$232,485 \$37,274 \$75,695
8	Contract Balance  Contract Balance  252,392.43  In accordance with General Conditions 10.05 Claims, please co	\$146,320.43

<sup>9</sup> J.F. Allen does not dispute this. *See* JA 1233 ("The jury's verdict awarding damages against the CSB... represents a close approximation of the amount claimed as contract damages in JFA's [REA].").

Accordingly, the error in admitting the report into evidence was not harmless, and it clearly affected CSB's substantial rights and the outcome at trial. Moreover, the fact that Petitioner now attempts to use Mr. Willoughby's testimony and the REA to support its retroactive alteration of its theories presented at trial further supports its unreliability, the confusion it caused the jury during deliberations, and the prejudicial effect it had on CSB at trial.

# B. PETITIONER'S ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR I FAILS BECAUSE THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING THE JURY'S VERDICT INCONSISTENT AND GRANTING DEFENDANTS A NEW TRIAL AS TO DAMAGES.

In its first assignment of error, Petitioner claims the Circuit Court committed error by finding that the jury verdict rendered in this case was inconsistent and by awarding the Respondents a new trial as to damages on that basis. Notably, Petitioner concedes that "when the verdict form was initially received it did, in fact, contain an inconsistency," and agrees the Circuit Court properly returned the jury for further consideration in accordance with Rule 49 of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure. (Pet's Brief, at 10 (emphasis added).) According to Petitioner, however, the jury's initial and incomplete verdict—\$1,300,000.20 against CSB, a finding of 90% negligence on the part of B&N and 10% negligence against Petitioner, and the damages portion against B&N left blank—was the only inconsistent verdict rendered by the jury at the trial in this matter. This argument is not logical in light of the verdict ultimately rendered, and, in fact, mischaracterizes the true nature of the Circuit Court's findings during and after the trial in this matter.

For instance, Petitioner appears to speculate (for the first time on appeal) that the Circuit Court must not have found any inconsistencies in the verdict at the time of entry of judgment because Rule 49 of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure would not have permitted the Circuit Court to enter an inconsistent verdict. In support of this argument, Petitioner mistakenly asserts that the Circuit Court did not return the jury for further consideration after the jury's second

attempt at deliberation "but, instead, finding no inconsistency, directed the entry of the judgment upon the jury's answers and verdict." (Pet's Brief, at 11.) This argument is simply false.

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